Sanson's accusations as being anything other than false assertions of fact.¹⁹ He did not, and could not, ever prove those false accusations to be true, and his attempt to invoke the anti-slap statute therefore fails as a matter of law.

STATEMENT OF CASE

There are two Answering Briefs, referred to here by the name of the primary party filing them. Schneider copied our Statement of the case verbatim. Sanson improperly submitted five pages of argument, including lots of hyperbole and adjectives alleging motivation and alleged knowledge among the various parties, plus arguments not raised below for which there is of course no citation to the record.

We ask the Court to rely on the Statement of the Case in the *Opening Brief*.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The two answering briefs take very different tacks. Schneider attempts to defend his obtaining of the hearing video from the *Saiter* case and providing it to Sanson to use in the extortion efforts against Ms. Abrams (to try to get her to take off calendar the sanctions motion against Schneider), essentially stating that since the case file was not sealed until after the hearing, doing so was not illegal. He further argues, repeatedly, that “anyone could have” obtained the video during that window, ignoring the fact that subpoenaed records show that he is the only one that actually did so. Schneider includes no citations to the record.

Sanson admits (at 6) that this entire case is a First Amendment case (which is relevant to the point, discussed below, that this Court has already provided guidance as to what kinds of speech and actions do and do not deserve “First Amendment Protection”), and largely ignores the context of why Schneider provided the *Saiter* video to Sanson in the extortion attempt, instead trying to delve into minutia of individual words stripped of the context of their usage.

Along the way, Sanson mischaracterizes the proceedings and actions in the underlying actions. For example, he mis-quotes (at 7) the email from Ms. Abrams to former Judge Elliott, which actually stated the Saiter family did not need a video or other information about their private lives posted on the internet and noted, as the extortion campaign opened, that the Sanson articles were “intended to place” her in a bad light, instead characterizing it as complaining that the posting was critical of her.

Most of the remainder of Sanson’s statement of facts recites the order appealed from which his attorney wrote, puts Sanson’s preferred spin on each salvo of the months-long campaign against Ms. Abrams, and minimizes and recharacterizes his actions and comments. For example, at page 9 Sanson terms his accusation that Ms.

Abrams is “unethical and a criminal,” was “breaking the law,” had “unlawfully” had her staff enter a person’s home¹ as Sanson making “unflattering comments.”

There is much editorializing in both the text and the headings of Sanson’s statement of facts, and lots of direct argument, and the positions taken are directly at odds with Sanson’s filings in the companion case now on appeal.²

Sanson also does not want this Court to note that this case was reassigned from the court that issued the decision on appeal, or Sanson’s continual *ex parte* contacts to judges and other improper behavior that caused that reassignment. Those *ex parte* contacts and other intimidation and control tactics were occurring before and during the time of the decision at issue; they had just not yet been memorialized by Judge Duckworth’s written order or in our *Motion to Disqualify*. All of Sanson’s

¹ V AA 750-752.

² *Sanson v. Willick*, Case No. 72778, in which Sanson quoted extensively from Judge Duckworth’s orders in the *Ansell* divorce case, although in this filing he complains that all such orders should be ignored because they are “by definition irrelevant.” They are not, of course, both because they identify the attempted “manipulation, intimidation, and control” of judges by Sanson that was the reason Schneider employed him for the extortion efforts, and because Sanson’s filings make contradictory requests. See e.g., *Vaile v. District Court*, 118 Nev. 262, 44 P.3d 506 (2002) (discussing doctrine of judicial estoppel and noting that the *purpose* of the doctrine “is to prevent parties from deliberately shifting their position to suit the requirements of another case concerning the same subject matter.”)

misconduct is relevant to the reason for the reassignment to the senior judge program and the reason the incorrect decision appealed from was made.

The intent of Sanson's argument in the facts section appears to be to prevent this Court from reviewing the context in which this case was filed, litigated, and decided, because his argument, addressed below, depends on the Court having no regard for the actual situation and instead focusing on individual words in isolation.

For all these reasons, we ask the Court to rely on the Statement of Facts in the *Opening Brief*.

This Reply Brief follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW AND SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The answering briefs are in direct contradiction. Schneider claims (at 5) that the applicable standard of review is abuse of discretion; Sanson claims (at 15) it is *de novo*.

As noted in the *Opening Brief* (at 38) and per this Court's recent decision in *Coker v. Sassone*,³ the correct standard of review is *de novo*. Schneider's argument

³ *Coker v. Sassone*, 135 Nev. ___, 432 P.3d 746 (Adv. Opn. No. 2, Jan. 3, 2019).

summary simply repeats (at 6) his assertion that there was no abuse of discretion.

Sanson did not provide an argument summary.

ARGUMENT

I. THERE CAN BE NO “GOOD FAITH” COMMUNICATIONS IN PURSUIT OF AN EXTORTION SCHEME

The Schneider argument ignores what he and Sanson were actually doing in obtaining the *Saiter* video and using it to attempt to extort Ms. Abrams into taking off her pending sanctions motion against Schneider, instead focusing (at 6-8) on the assertion that Schneider did nothing illegal in obtaining the video. He never addresses his emailed threat to take out-of-court action against her or his admission that he acted on that threat by using the out-of-court smear campaign to extort opposing counsel in the case.⁴

Along the way, Schneider falsely asserts (at 8) that this Court has referred “the matter” to the State Bar, when actually the Court expressly declined to do so.⁵

⁴ V AA 666, 745 (Schneider’s offer to “make all this go away” if the Sanctions Motion against him was withdrawn).

⁵ Schneider brief at 28.

Without analysis or cogent argument, he includes (at 9) a long quote making the irrelevant claim that “fair, accurate and impartial” reporting falls within First Amendment Privilege.⁶ That principle is not at issue here, but if it was, it would not apply to deliberately stating the opposite of what actually occurred.

Sanson also never addresses his admission that the smear campaign would end if Ms. Abrams succumbed to pressure and betrayed her client by withdrawing her sanctions motion against Schneider.⁷

Both respondents claim that this is a First Amendment case, and both entirely ignore without addressing it this Court’s holding in *Hafter* that false statements of fact are not entitled to any First Amendment protection.⁸ Likewise, they ignore this Court’s holding in *Coker* that communications for an illicit purpose, whether advertising and selling counterfeit artwork as original work,⁹ or an out-of-court smear

⁶ See *Adelson v. Harris*, 133 Nev. ___, 402 P.3d 665 (Adv. Opn. No. 67, Sep. 27, 2017).

⁷ V AA 671, 751.

⁸ *Matter of Discipline of Hafter*, No. 71744, 2017 WL 5565322, at *2 (Nov. 17, 2017) (Unpublished Disp.). There is no constitutional value in false statements of fact. *Dehne v. Avaino*, 219 F. Supp. 2d 1096, 1107 (D. Nev. 2001) (quoting *Gertz v. Robert Welch, Inc.*, 418 U.S. 323, 340 (1974)).

⁹ *Coker v. Sassone*, 135 Nev. ___, 432 P.3d 746 (Adv. Opn. No. 2 Jan. 3, 2019).

campaign for extortion, can never be “good faith communications in direct connection with an issue of public interest.”¹⁰

Given both respondents’ admissions that the entire smear campaign at issue was in pursuit of an illicit extortion attempt intended to corrupt the judicial process, no anti-slap analysis should ever have been reached. To the extent that any of the statements could be considered “mixed”—a statement of opinion that implies the existence of undisclosed, defamatory facts—the analysis is the same and the statements are actionable.¹¹

II. THE BURDEN OF PROVING TRUTHFULNESS IS ON SANSON AND SCHNEIDER

Schneider’s brief ignores the issue. Sanson attempts to duck it, simply insisting again and again that all his comments were either true or matters of opinion. But the totality of the communications made by Sanson—that Ms. Abrams is a criminal who

¹⁰ Sanson almost concedes this point (at 16), noting that the statute itself states that statements made for an improper purpose and false statements are not “good faith communications [etc.]” under NRS 41.637. The entirety of the remainder of his argument ignores that all statements at issue were made as part of a smear campaign for hire to achieve an illicit goal.

¹¹ *Lubin v. Kunin*, 117 Nev. 107, 113, 17 P.3d 422, 426 (2001).

had “violated the law” and *was* “breaking the law,” had used “undue influence,” and is “unethical,” among many other things,¹² are simply false, and no one anywhere has ever found otherwise.

Sanson studiously avoids ever directly addressing that it was *his burden* to prove truthfulness to have an anti-slapp analysis go forward,¹³ and that he neither did do so or ever could do so. The months of communications in the smear campaign must be considered in the aggregate,¹⁴ not by parsing out each individual word and seeing if there is some conceivable way of interpreting each as a “mere opinion,” because the question is the message conveyed to the recipient.

Most of Sanson’s brief¹⁵ consists of the repetition, citing his own argument and the order at issue drafted by his lawyer, that his accusations against Ms. Abrams were made “without knowledge of falsehood” or “incapable of being true or false.” Given

¹² See AOB at 44.

¹³ NRS 41.637(4); *John v. Douglas Cty. Sch. Dist.*, 125 Nev. 746, 754, 219 P.3d 1276, 1282 (2009), *superseded by statute on other grounds*.

¹⁴ *Lubin v. Kunin*, 117 Nev. 107, 111, 17 P.3d 422, 425 (2001) (when assessing whether a statement is defamatory, the words “must be reviewed in their entirety and in context to determine whether they are susceptible of a defamatory meaning”).

¹⁵ See, e.g., Sanson brief at 18-30.

the context of a months-long smear campaign, the attempts to focus on minutia are mere evasion.

Whether a statement constitutes fact or opinion is determined by assessing “whether a reasonable person would be likely to understand the remark as an expression of the source’s opinion or as a statement of existing fact.”¹⁶

Sanson’s repeated call to action, claiming that Ms. Abrams was “obstructing justice,” “breaking the law” and a “criminal who should be reported to the Bar,” necessarily implied the existence of facts to support it, despite Sanson’s claim (at 21) that claiming an attorney is “unethical” is a mere opinion.

Accusations of obstruction of justice, unethical activity, and allegations relating to professional integrity that are susceptible of proof are assertion of fact¹⁷ and can be libelous *per se*.¹⁸ In context, there is no reasonable way to perceive

¹⁶ *Lubin v. Kunin*, 117 Nev. 107, 112, 17 P.3d 422, 426 (2001).

¹⁷ *Yoder v. Workman*, 224 F. Supp. 2d 1077, 1081 (S.D.W. Va. 2002) (denying motion to dismiss defamation action because allegation that attorney engaged in “spurious and unethical legal actions and false allegations” could “be reasonably interpreted as stating actual facts”); see also *Held v. Pokorny*, 583 F. Supp. 1038, 1040 (S.D.N.Y. 1984).

¹⁸ *Wachs v. Winter*, 569 F. Supp. 1438, 1443 (E.D.N.Y.1983) (noting that statements accusing an attorney of unprofessional conduct that would tend to injure him in that capacity are libelous *per se*).