IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

JENNIFER V. ABRAMS; AND THE ABRAMS & MAYO LAW FIRM, Appellants,

VS.

STEVE W. SANSON; VETERANS IN POLITICS INTERNATIONAL, INC; LOUIS C. SCHNEIDER; AND THE LAW OFFICES OF LOUIS C. SCHNEIDER, LLC,

Respondents.

Electronically Filed Feb 25 2019 09:40 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

CASE NO.: 73838 / 75834

RESPONDENTS' ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal from Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County
The Honorable Michelle Leavitt, District Judge
District Court Case No. A-17-749318-C

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Despite the Abrams Parties' contentions that the Sanson Parties' communications are not entitled to Anti-SLAPP protection, the instant case is a

paradigmatic SLAPP. This case concerns a well-known, high-powered family law attorney who, upon discovering that the Sanson Parties dared criticize her performance in Nevada's courts, attempted to leverage the legal system to litigate the Sanson Parties into silence and pursue her personal vendetta against them. The Abrams Parties have used this case as a vehicle for repeatedly disparaging the Sanson Parties via motion practice; but for Nevada's litigation privilege, such derogatory statements could themselves be grounds for a defamation claim.

The district court recognized the Abrams Parties' lawsuit for what it was—a meritless attempt to punish the Sanson Parties for expressing unflattering opinions of them. The district court correctly held that, by voicing true statements of fact and statements of opinion which are incapable of being defamatory, the Sanson Parties were engaging in speech protected by the First Amendment. (VI AA984-85 (Order, ¶¶ 55 - 58).) The district court also correctly held that the Abrams Parties' suit was based on this protected speech: the Sanson Parties' criticism constituted a good faith communication in furtherance of the right to free speech in direct connection with an issue of public concern—the practices and conduct of attorneys and judges in Nevada's public courtrooms. (VI AA981-84 (Order, ¶¶ 38 - 54).) Further, the district court correctly held that the Abrams Parties failed to make a prima facie showing of

¹ Ms. Abrams even attempted to have Mr. Sanson *imprisoned* for his speech activities, pursuant to an order that was later vacated as unconstitutional. (III AA 490.)

a probability of success on the merits for any of their causes of action. (VI AA988-93 (Order, ¶¶ 70 - 96).) Because the Sanson Parties satisfied both prongs of Nevada's Anti-SLAPP test, the district court correctly granted the Sanson Parties special motion to dismiss. (VI AA993 (Order, ¶ 97).)

While the instant case may not be "a SLAPP situation involving a large corporation attempting to cover up a whistleblower or a well-funded politician trying to silence a critic," (OB, p. 4) Anti-SLAPP protection extends to a much broader range of communications than those. What matters is not the relative economic or political clout of the parties, but rather whether the SLAPP defendant exercised his or her right to make good faith communications in connection with an issue of public concern and was subsequently sued for it.

Likewise, the Anti-SLAPP statute does not exist to aid in the pointless exercise of differentiating "good guys" from "bad guys" in litigation. (*See* OB, p. 83.) After all, every litigant thinks he or she is the "good guy." Rather, Nevada's Anti-SLAPP statute exists to provide recourse for speakers who are sued for exercising their rights to free speech in connection with an issue of public concern, regardless of whether the speakers (or the plaintiffs who wish to silence them) are rich or poor, powerful or weak, well-connected or alienated, "good" or "bad," or anything else in between.

The Abrams Parties proffer four arguments for why this Court should vacate

the district court's order. First, they argue the district court should have done a "preliminary evaluation" of the Sanson Parties' statements before undergoing the two-prong analysis mandated by Nevada's Anti-SLAPP statute. (OB, pp. 38, 41-45.) Second, they argue the district court should have ruled that the Sanson Parties failed the first prong of Nevada's Anti-SLAPP analysis by failing to demonstrate by a preponderance of the evidence that the statements at issue were good faith communications in connection with public interest made in a public forum. (OB, pp. 48-62.) Third, they argue the district could should have held that the Abrams Parties demonstrated with prima facie evidence a probability of prevailing on their causes of action. (OB, pp. 63-82.) Fourth and finally, the Abrams Parties argue they are entitled to limited discovery in this case. (OB, pp. 46-48.)

None of these arguments are meritorious. First, Nevada's Anti-SLAPP statute clearly requires the district court to engage in a two-prong analysis of a special Anti-SLAPP motion to dismiss; there is no preliminary hurdle a defendant must clear to get the district court to engage in such analysis. Second, characterizing the Sanson Parties' communications as a "defamation campaign"—as the Abrams Parties' Opening Brief does *ad nauseum*—does not make them defamatory. The district court found that—despite Ms. Abrams' beliefs—the Sanson Parties' communications consisted of non-actionable opinion and true statements of fact. The district court also held that the statements were in direct connection with an issue of public

concern—the conduct of attorneys in open court. This issue is of great interest to millions of potential Clark County Family Court litigants because criticism of lawyers' and judges' behavior in open court is crucial to maintaining the integrity and accountability of the legal system. The district court also held that the statements, which were posted on a publicly-accessible website, were made in a public forum. Thus, the district court correctly held that the Sanson Parties met the requirements of the first prong of Nevada's Anti-SLAPP analysis by a preponderance of the evidence.

Third, as explained by the district court and *infra*, none of the Abrams Parties' causes of action have any chance of succeeding; thus, the Sanson Parties satisfy the second prong of Nevada's Anti-SLAPP analysis. Fourth and finally, limited discovery is not proper in this matter. The discovery requested by the Abrams Parties pertains to an alleged conspiracy between Mr. Sanson and Mr. Schneider, which necessarily fails because the Abrams Parties did not adequately plead the underlying torts on which their conspiracy claim is based. Because no amount of discovery could cure those defects, the Abrams Parties' request for discovery was properly denied. For these reasons, this Court should affirm the district court's decision in its entirety.

///

///

III. STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

Although the Abrams Parties pad their Opening Brief with page after page of irrelevant facts, the facts this Court must consider in deciding the instant appeal are straightforward. On January 9, 2017, the Abrams Parties filed a complaint against the Sanson Parties alleging, inter alia, that the Sanson Parties' criticism of Ms. Abrams and her law firm's conduct on the Internet was defamatory. (I AA1-80.) To defend their First Amendment rights to express negative opinions of family court, family lawyers and their practices, the Sanson Parties moved to dismiss the suit pursuant to Nevada's Anti-SLAPP Statute. (II AA368-405.)

Following a June 5, 2017 hearing (VI AA884-950), the district court entered a minute order on June 22, 2017 granting the Sanson Parties' Anti-SLAPP Motion. (I RA1-3.) On July 24, 2017, that order was memorialized in writing. (VI AA971-994.) The district court more than adequately summarized the relevant factual and procedural details in its written order. Those relevant facts are discussed below.

A. Background Facts Regarding the Sanson Parties.

Steve W. Sanson is the President of Defendant Veterans in Politics International, Inc. ("VIPI"), a non-profit corporation that advocates on behalf of veterans and works to expose public corruption and wrongdoing. (VI AA976.) VIPI routinely publishes and distributes articles online and hosts a "weekly online" talk

show which features public officials and others who discuss veterans' political, judicial, and other issues of public concerns. (*Id.*)

B. Family Court Issues and The Sanson Parties Postings on Those Issues.

On October 5, 2016, acting in his capacity as President of VIPI, Mr. Sanson posted an article on the publicly-accessible website <veteransinpolitics.org> entitled "Nevada Attorney attacks a Clark County Family Court Judge in Open Court," containing the court video transcript of a September 29, 2016 hearing in the case entitled *Saiter v. Saiter*, Eighth Judicial District Court, Family Division, Clark County, Nevada, Case No. D-15-521372 (the "Saiter Hearing"). (I AA127-131 (the "Attack Article").) The Saiter Hearing involved a heated exchange between Ms. Abrams and Judge Jennifer L. Elliot. (*Id.*) The article that accompanied the video posting contained both written excerpts of said exchange and Mr. Sanson's opinions of Ms. Abrams' and Judge Elliot's behavior during the *Saiter* Hearing. (*Id.*)

On October 5, 2016, Ms. Abrams sent Judge Elliot an email about the article in which she complained that the article placed her in a bad light and requested that Judge Elliot force VIPI to take the article down. (VI AA977; *see also* III AA419-420.) Because Mr. Sanson believed that VIPI was within its rights to publish a video of a court proceeding, Mr. Sanson did not remove either the article or video. (VI AA977.) On October 8, 2016, Mr. Sanson was personally served with an October 6, 2016 Court Order Prohibiting Dissemination of Case Materials issued by Judge

Elliot in the *Saiter* case. (*Id.*; *see also* I AA135-36.) This order purported to seal all the documents and proceedings in the *Saiter* case on a retroactive basis. (I AA135-36.)

Despite disagreeing with Judge Elliot's order, Mr. Sanson temporarily took the video down. (VI AA977; *see also* III AA407-08.) On October 9, 2016, Mr. Sanson reposted the video to, among other websites, <veteransinpolitics.org> together with an article entitled "District Court Judge Bullied by Family Attorney Jennifer Abrams." The article contained a report on what had taken place and criticism of the practice of sealing court documents. (I AA133-37 (the "Bully Article").)

On November 6, 2016, Mr. Sanson posted another article to <veteransinpolitics.org> entitled "Law Frowns on Nevada Attorney Jennifer Abrams' 'Seal-Happy' Practices." (I AA139-49 (the "Seal-Happy Article").) This article was critical of Ms. Abrams' practice of sealing the records in many of her cases. (*Id.*)

On November 14, 2016, Mr. Sanson posted an article to veteransinpolitics.org entitled "Lawyers acting badly in a Clark County Family Court." (I AA151 (the "Acting Badly Article").) On November 14, 2016, Mr. Sanson posted a video of the *Saiter* Hearing to the video-hosting website YouTube. (VI AA977; *see also* III AA450.) In the description of said video, Mr. Sanson stated

his opinion that Ms. Abrams' conduct in open court constituted "bullying." (III AA450.) In this article, Mr. Sanson states his belief in the importance of public access to court proceedings. (*Id.*; *see also* IV AA977.)

November 16. 2016. Mr. On Sanson posted article an to <veteransinpolitics.org> criticizing Judge Rena Hughes for making a misleading statement to an unrepresented child in Family Court. (I AA153-57 (the "Deceives Article").) As the district court found, "this article reflects a core VIPI mission exposing to the public and criticizing the behavior of officials." (VI AA977.) On December 21, 2016, the Sanson Parties posted three videos to YouTube entitled "The Abrams Law Firm 10 05 15," "The Abrams Law Firm Inspection part 1," and "The Abrams Law Firm Practices p 2." (VI AA978; see also I AA159-61.) In addition to being published on the VIPI website, all the above-listed articles were also simultaneously sent to VIPI email subscribers. (VI AA978.)

On December 22, 2016, Mr. Sanson allegedly had a conversation with David J. Schoen, and employee of the Abrams & Mayo Law Firm. (*Id.*) In this conversation, Mr. Sanson allegedly made several unflattering comments about Plaintiff Abrams to the public and criticizing the behavior of officials. (*Id.*)

C. The Abrams' Parties Attempts to Silence the Sanson Parties.

On January 9, 2017, the Abrams Parties filed a complaint against the Sanson Parties, as well as several other defendants. (I AA1-80; *see also* VI AA978.) The

complaint included purported causes of action for defamation, intentional infliction of emotional distress, negligent infliction of emotional distress, false light, business disparagement, harassment, concert of action, civil conspiracy, RICO, and injunctive relief. (*Id.*) On January 27, 2017, the Abrams Parties filed a First Amended Complaint adding copyright infringement as a cause of action. (I AA85-164; VI AA978.)

In addition to attempting to silence the Sanson Parties with the district court litigation, the Abrams Parties also attempted to have Mr. Sanson imprisoned for VIPI's constitutionally-protected post regarding the *Saiter* Hearing. Specifically, on February 13, 2017, Ms. Abrams filed a Motion for an Order to Show Cause in *Saiter* v. *Saiter*, No. D-15-521372-D, ("OSC Motion"). (III AA474-94.) In that Motion, Ms. Abrams suggested that the Family Court hold Mr. Sanson in contempt and incarcerate him for over seven years. (*See generally id.*)

On March 21, 2017, the Honorable Judge Elliot entered an order denying Ms. Abrams' motion, and vacating the October 6, 2016 Order Prohibiting Dissemination, holding that it was facially overbroad, not narrowly drawn, and therefore unconstitutional. (III AA513-35.)

D. The Sanson Parties Prevail on an Anti-SLAPP Motion to Dismiss.

On April 28, 2017, the Sanson Parties filed a Special Motion to Dismiss Pursuant to Nev. Rev. Stat. § 41.660 (the "Anti-SLAPP Motion."). (II AA368-IV

AA655 (Motion and supporting declarations and exhibits).) Following full briefing by the parties, the district court conducted a hearing on June 5, 2017. (VI AA884-950.)² On June 22, 2017, the district court entered a lengthy minute order granting the Sanson Parties' Anti-SLAPP Motion. (I RA1-3.) On July 24, 2017 the district court entered a written order memorializing its findings of fact and conclusions of law and granting the Sanson Parties' Anti-SLAPP Motion. (VI JA951-94.)

On August 21, 2017, the Abrams Parties filed a notice of appeal. (VI AA 995-998.) Specifically, the Abrams Parties appeal: (1) whether Nevada's anti-SLAPP statute applies to the Sanson Parties' conduct; (2) whether the Sanson Parties met their initial burden of proof under NRS 41.660(3)(a); (3) whether the Abrams Parties demonstrated with prima facie evidence a probability of prevailing on at least one of their claims; and (4) whether the Abrams Parties should have been permitted to conduct limited discovery prior to the district court ruling on the Sanson Parties' Anti-SLAPP Motion to Dismiss. (Opening Brief ("OB"), pp. 1-2.)

E. This Court Should Disregard Numerous Facts in The Abrams Parties' Opening Brief That Are Irrelevant to the Issues on Appeal.

The express language of Nev. R. App. P. 30(b) mandates that "all matters not essential to the decision of issues presented by the appeal shall be omitted." *State*

² Although not relevant to the instant appeal, the Sanson Parties also filed a Motion to Dismiss the Abrams' Parties Amended Complaint pursuant to Nev. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(5) (II AA205-65); the district court also entertained argument on that motion at the July 5, 2017 hearing. (VI AA884-950.)

v. Haberstroh, 119 Nev. 173, 179, 69 P.3d 676, 680 (2003), as modified June 9, 2003; cf. United States v. Robinson, 137 F.3d 652, 653, n.1 (1st Cir. 1998) ("In the absence of some showing that the disputed materials were relevant to actual decisionmaking being contested on appeal, an appellate court will not review aspects of the trial court file whose admission or exclusion has not been challenged"). Indeed, the Abrams Parties and their counsel "are under a duty to omit from the record on appeal all material that is not essential to decision of the questions on appeal." Beattie v. Thomas, 99 Nev. 579, 589, 668 P.2d 268, 274–75 (1983) (citing Driscoll v. Erreguible, 87 Nev. 97, 102, 482 P.2d 291, 294 (1971)).

It is beyond cavil that the district court's decision-making calculus cannot consider unknown, future events. In the instant case, the district court granted the Sanson Parties' Anti-SLAPP Motion to Dismiss via a minute order on June 22, 2017 (I RA1-3), and entered a written order memorializing this decision on July 24, 2017. (VI AA 971-94.) The district court's decision could therefore not possibly be based on anything that occurred after that date. However, the Abrams Parties include in both their Opening Brief and Appendix copious materials that post-date the district court's decision and are therefore by definition irrelevant to the issues on appeal. As the table below illustrates, the Abrams Parties repeatedly ignore their duty to omit irrelevant material from their Opening Brief and Appendix, and invite this Court to

consider facts and materials that are not relevant to the issues presented in the instant appeal:

Irrelevant Material Included in Opening Brief	Brief Cite	Appendix Cite	Why Material is Irrelevant
Plaintiffs' Omnibus Opposition to Defendants' Motion for Attorney's Fees, Costs, and Sanctions dated 10/27/2017	OB, pp. 8, n. 11; 10, n. 20; 11, n. 21; 11, n. 23; 13-14; 14 n. 31; 29, n. 79	VII AA1144- 1259	Postdates July 24, 2017 order currently on appeal and therefore could not have factored into district court's decision. Additionally, Judge Duckworth's Recusal Order was authored on
			September 5, 2017, which post-dates the decision on appeal in this case.
Motion to Disqualify Eighth Judicial District Court Elected Judiciary dated 1/24/2018	OB, pp. 6, n. 6; 13, n. 29; 14 n. 31; 33, n. 89; 34, n. 90; 34, n. 91; 34, n. 92; 34, n. 93; 35, n. 94; 35, n. 95; 35, n. 96; 35, n.	VII AA1266- 1370	(see above)
Opposition to Motion to Disqualify dated 1/31/2018	OB, pp. 33, n. 89; 36, n. 101	VII AA1384- 1393	(see above)
Court Minutes dated 2/7/2018.	OB, p. 36, n. 104	VIII AA1452	(see above)

Irrelevant Material Included in Opening Brief	Brief Cite	Appendix Cite	Why Material is Irrelevant
Joinder to Louis Schneider's Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion to Disqualify dated 2/7/2018	OB, p. 33, n. 89	VIII AA1453- 1469	(see above)
Reply to Oppositions to Motion to Disqualify dated 2/23/2018	OB, pp. 5, n. 5; 6, n. 6; 8, n. 11; 12, n. 24; 12, n. 28; 33, n. 89; 34, n. 90; 35, n. 96; 35, n. 97; 35, n. 98; 35, n. 99; 36, n. 102; 36, n. 103	VIII AA1471- 1539	(see above)
Court Minutes dated 3/2/2018	OB, p. 37, n. 105	VIII AA1540	(see above)
Notice of Department Reassignment dated 3/5/2018	OB, p. 37, n. 105	VIII AA1541	(see above)
Opposition to Motion to Reassign Case to Judge Leavitt and Request for Written Decision and Order and Countermotion for Attorney's Fees dated 5/8/2018	OB, pp. 8, n. 11; 37, n. 109	IX AA1699- 1707	(see above)
Court Minutes dated 5/25/2018	OB, p. 38, n. 110	IX AA1732	(see above)
Order dated 7/2/2018	OB, p. 38, n.	IX AA1733- 1735	(see above)

Irrelevant Material	Brief Cite	Appendix Cite	Why Material is Irrelevant
Included in			irreievani
Opening Brief			
Reference to Las	OB, p. 13, n. 30	(not in	Allegations against the
Vegs Review-		appendix)	Sanson Parties in
Journal article			opinion column by
dated February 21,			Jane Ann Morrison
2014.			dated February 21,
			2014 are irrelevant to
			the case at bar.

IV. STANDARD OF REVIEW

In reviewing a district court's order granting an Anti-SLAPP motion to dismiss, this Court engages in *de novo* review. *Coker v. Sassone*, 135 Nev. Adv. Op. 2, 432 P.3d 746, 748–49 (2019) ("As amended, the special motion to dismiss again functions like a summary judgment motion procedurally, thus, we conclude de novo review is appropriate.").

V. <u>LEGAL ARGUMENT</u>

A. The District Court Properly Applied the Anti-SLAPP Legal Standard.

The district court, applying the two-part test outlined in Nev. Rev. Stat. § 41.660(3)(a) and this Court's interpreting case law, properly evaluated the statements at issue in this case and found that the Abrams Parties' claims were based upon good faith communications in furtherance of the right to petition or the right to free speech in direct connection with an issue of public concern. (VI AA980.)

As a preliminary matter, the Abrams Parties mistake the applicable test in arguing that the district court, "before undertaking an anti-SLAPP analysis, should

have proceeded as follows: first, questioning whether the statements were made for an improper purpose; and second, questioning whether the statements were false and defamatory in nature when reviewed in context." (OB, p. 42.)

The Abrams Parties, however, do not cite any case law or statute that requires the district court to undergo a "preliminary analysis" as to whether the Anti-SLAPP statute "applies." This is because there is none—such an analysis is wholly subsumed by the first prong of the Anti-SLAPP analysis. The Abrams Parties' argument is nothing more than an attempt to evade the statutorily-mandated Anti-SLAPP analysis under which their suit was dismissed.

As the district court correctly explained, "[c]ourts must evaluate a special Anti-SLAPP motion to dismiss using a two-step process. First, the moving party must establish by a preponderance of the evidence 'that the claim is based upon a good faith communication in furtherance of the right to petition or the right to free speech in direct connection with an issue of public concern." (VI AA 980 (Order, ¶ 34 (quoting Nev. Rev. Stat. § 41.660(3)(a))).) Statements made for an "improper purpose" or untrue statements made with knowledge of their falsehood are, by definition, not "good faith communications in furtherance of the right to petition or the right to free speech in direct connection with an issue of public concern." *See* Nev. Rev. Stat. § 41.637 (defining such "good faith communications" as, *inter alia*, a "[c]ommunication made in direct connection with an issue of public interest in a

place open to the public or in a public forum which is truthful or is made without knowledge of its falsehood."). As detailed below, the statements at issue are all good faith communications because they were true statements of fact or statements of opinion made in a public forum regarding issues of public interest. Further, the district court properly found that the Abrams Parties did not establish a probability of success on the merits. Thus, this Court must affirm the district court's order in its entirety.

B. The District Court Correctly Held that the Sanson Parties Met Their Burdens Under the First Prong of the Anti-SLAPP Analysis.

To prevail in an Anti-SLAPP motion to dismiss, the moving party must first establish by a preponderance of the evidence "that the claim is based upon a good faith communication in furtherance of the right to petition or the right to free speech in direct connection with an issue of public concern." Nev. Rev. Stat. § 41.660(3)(a). Nevada's Anti-SLAPP statute requires that a good faith communication must "truthful or made without knowledge of its falsehood." Nev. Rev. Stat. § 41.637. For the reasons discussed below, the district court properly found that the statements the Abrams Parties complain of were either statements of opinion—which this Court

has said cannot be false³—or were truthful. (VI AA984-85.) Additionally, as also discussed below, the district court correctly found that the statements pertained to an issue of public concern. (VI AA981-83.)

1. The Statements at Issue Are Truthful, Made Without Knowledge of Falsehood, or Non-Actionable Opinions Incapable of Being True of False.

Nevada's Anti-SLAPP statute requires that a good faith communication be "truthful or made without knowledge of its falsehood." Nev. Rev. Stat. § 41.637. The Abrams Parties argue the Sanson Parties "failed to offer any evidence that their defamatory posts were true or made without knowledge of their falsehood." (OB, p. 52.) This argument, however, ignores that statements of opinion cannot be made with knowledge of their falsehood because there is no such thing as a false idea. *Pegasus*, 118 Nev. at 714, 57 P.3d at 87. However pernicious opinions may seem, courts depend on the competition of other ideas, rather than judges and juries, to correct them. *Id.* The court must therefore ask "whether a reasonable person would be likely to understand the remark as an expression of the source's opinion or as a statement of existing fact." *Id.* at 715.

_

³ Pegasus v. Reno Newspapers, Inc., 118 Nev. 706, 714, 57 P.3d 82, 87 (2002) ("Statements of opinion cannot be defamatory because there is no such thing as a false idea.") (internal quotation omitted); see also Nevada Indep. Broad. Corp. v. Allen, 99 Nev. 404, 410, 664 P.2d 337, 341 (1983) ("[S]tatements of opinion as opposed to statements of fact are not actionable").

Although the Abrams Parties attempt to mischaracterize the Sanson Parties' articles as defamatory, the articles contain the Sanson Parties' non-actionable truthful statements and non-actionable opinions. Thus, as demonstrated below, these communications meet the threshold of good faith communication protected by Nev. Rev. Stat. § 41.637.

a) The "Attack Article" and Courtroom Video Are a Good Faith Communication.

The Abrams Parties contend that the Sanson Parties' October 5, 2016 "Attack Article" and contemporaneous YouTube video of the *Saiter* Hearing contained several false statements. (OB, p. 16.) The video cannot possibly be considered defamatory because it is a real video of an actual proceeding. *Kegel v. Brown & Williamson Tobacco Corp.*, No. 306-CV-00093-LRH-VPC, 2009 WL 656372, at *17 (D. Nev. Mar. 10, 2009), *on reconsideration in part*, No. 3:06-CV-00093LRHVPC, 2009 WL 3125482 (D. Nev. Sept. 24, 2009) ("the truthful statements relating to the admittedly accurate contents of the video cannot form the basis of Plaintiff's defamation claim"). Further, the statements the Abrams Parties complain of either do not appear in the article or are statements of opinions (even as characterized by the Abrams Parties) which cannot be true or false.

i. Whether Ms. Abrams "Attacked" a Clark County Family Court Judge in Open Court is a Matter of Opinion and Thus Incapable of Being False.

The headline of the "Attack Article" reads "Nevada Attorney attacks a Clark

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